FILED APR 04 2017 MASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

No. 94320.6

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals NO. 72926-8-I

JAMES D. BEARDEN,

Petitioner (Plaintiff-Respondent),

v.

DOLPHUS A. MCGILL,

Respondent (Defendant-Appellant)

PETITION FOR REVIEW

25 WASHINGTON 1

Kathleen Garvin, WSBA #10588 Law Offices of Kathleen Garvin Corrie J. Yackulic, WSBA #16063 Corrie Yackulic Law Firm, PLLC Carla Tachau Lawrence, WSBA #14120 (Of Counsel) 315 Fifth Avenue South, Suite 1000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 340-0600; (206) 787-1915 Counsel for Petitioner Bearden

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Should this Court accept review to address "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by" this Court, and to resolve conflict with previous decisions: When considering a request for MAR 7.3 fees and costs, is the trial court required to subtract RCW 4.84.010 costs from the arbitration award and the trial de novo judgment, to decide if the appealing party failed to improve its "position" at trial? RAP 13.4 (b)(1), (2), (4).

¹⁰ Citing S.B. Rep. on SB 5373, at 2, 57th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2002) ("Most appeals (86 percent) are filed by defendants"). Appendix C-8.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a non-catastrophic injury, admitted-liability car crash case—exactly the type of case that the legislature intended the mandatory arbitration system to keep out of court and resolve speedily. At mandatory arbitration, the arbitrator awarded Bearden \$44,000.00 in general plus special damages.¹¹ The arbitrator awarded \$1,187.00 in RCW 4.84.010 costs, for a total arbitration award of \$45,187.00. CP 290-91.

McGill elected to appeal in a trial de novo. CP 265-71. There was no offer of compromise. Slip op., at 2. The jury awarded Bearden \$42,500.00 in general damages only, CP 109, since Bearden did not seek special/medical damages at trial.

As an example of additional costs incurred for trial, defendant McGill perpetuated the testimony of his CR 35 medical examiner, Dr. Lawrence Murphy, CP 259, 264, rather than present him as a live witness at trial, thereby causing Bearden to incur \$1,013.55 in taxable deposition costs. CP 89. The court granted Bearden RCW 4.84.010 costs of \$3,296.39, for a total trial judgment against McGill of \$45,796.39. Slip op., at 2.

¹¹ CP 292-93 (\$34,336.09-general damages; \$8,663.91-special (medical) damages).

	Arbitration	Trial Judgment	Difference
	award (CP 290)	(CP 86-89, 109, 261)	
Special damages	\$ 8,663.91	Not Requested	,
General damages	\$34,336.09	\$42,500.00	+\$8,164
Total damages	\$44,000.00	\$42,500.00	-\$1,500
Costs	\$ 1,187.00	\$ 3,296.39	+\$2,109.39
Total	\$45,187.00	\$45,796.39	+ \$609.39

To determine whether McGill improved his position at trial under MAR 7.3, the trial court compared the final arbitration award (damages plus RCW 4.84.010 costs—\$45,187.00) to the judgment amount (damages plus RCW 4.84.010 costs—\$45,796.39). Since the judgment was \$609.39 greater than the arbitration award, the court awarded Bearden \$71,800.00 in attorney fees. Slip op., at 2; CP 7-12. McGill appealed.

Reversing the MAR 7.3 award, the Court of Appeals excluded RCW 4.84.010 costs altogether from the MAR 7.3 analysis, comparing McGill's position before the arbitrator awarded costs ("postarbitration, pretrial 'position'")¹² to the trial judgment minus costs incurred for trial (the jury verdict). In so doing, the Court of Appeals stated it was "following the Supreme Court's approach" in Nelson: 13 "we follow the Supreme Court's example and adopt the jury verdict as McGill's post-trial position." Slip op., at 7.14 The Bearden court also relied on Niccum v.

¹² Slip op., at 8.
13 Slip op., at 2.

¹⁴ Nelson did not actually use the "jury verdict" for the position at trial de novo, because "upon the plaintiff's motion for additur, the judge added \$3,000 for future noneconomic damages" to the jury verdict. Nelson, at 387 (emphasis added).

Enquist, 175 Wn.2d 441, 286 P.3d 966 (2012), stating *Nelson* "based its analysis almost entirely" on *Niccum*. Slip op., at 3. Both *Nelson* and *Niccum* involved offers of compromise, which take the place of the arbitration award when comparing positions for purposes of awarding MAR 7.3 fees. ¹⁵ *Nelson*, at 388; *Niccum*, at 452-53. Neither case addressed whether RCW 4.84.010 trial de novo costs, if any, should be part of the MAR 7.3 analysis (comparing positions).

Bearden rejected a rule comparing the total amount of the arbitration award to the total judgment amount, reasoning that: (1) Bearden identified no part of Nelson or Niccum supporting this view; (2) in Nelson and Niccum "the Supreme Court looked only to the jury verdict[;]" and (3) Bearden offered no persuasive reason to distinguish this case from those cases. Slip op., at 6. The court justified its approach by relying on Niccum's observation that a prevailing party is entitled to costs only "upon the judgment." Slip op., at 7-8 (citing Niccum, at 449-50, in turn citing RCW 4.84.010).

The *Bearden* court concluded that subtracting costs from the appealing party's position at arbitration furthers MAR 7.3's policy to encourage settlement and discourage meritless appeals, by making

¹⁵ RCW 7.06.050(1)(b).

recovery of attorney fees under MAR 7.3 less difficult than it would be when costs are included in the first position:

An interpretation of MAR 7.3 that includes costs in the pretrial position thus makes it easier for defendants to improve their position. This, in turn, may incentivize defendants to request trials de novo to the detriment of MAR 7.3's purpose.

Slip op., at 8-9. Comparing Bearden's arbitration award of \$44,000 (general plus special damages) to the jury verdict of \$42,500 (general damages only), subtracting RCW 4.84.010 costs awarded by the arbitrator and by the trial court, *Bearden* held McGill improved his position so that Bearden is not entitled to attorney fees. *Id.* at 9.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

By subtracting RCW 4.84.010 costs from the arbitration award, looking to the jury verdict instead of the trial judgment, and excluding RCW 4.84.010 costs altogether from the MAR 7.3 analysis, *Bearden* frustrates MAR 7.3's purposes to ease court congestion and deter meritless or unwarranted appeals from arbitration. The decision contradicts the Rule's legislative history, intent, principles of statutory construction, and prior caselaw. Accepting review to settle this question will simply and promptly end any further confusion.

9

¹⁶ The application of a court rule or statute is a legal question reviewed de novo. *Niccum*, at 446. The court is required "to discern and implement the legislature's intent." *Williams*, at 61. The court accomplishes this "primarily from the statutory language

A. Nelson and Niccum Require An Ordinary Person's Understanding To Be Applied To Both Positions Being Compared; An Ordinary Person Would Compare The Total Arbitration Award To The Total Trial Judgment.

In deciding to subtract costs from the nonappealing party's position at both arbitration and at trial de novo, the *Bearden* court stated, "Bearden does not identify any part of either the *Nelson* or *Niccum* decision that supports" looking "at the **final judgment** to decide McGill's posttrial position[,]" as opposed to the "jury verdict." Slip op., at 6 (emphasis added). In fact, neither *Nelson* nor *Niccum* addresses where to set the point of comparison; that issue was not presented in either case.

In *Niccum*, plaintiff made a "confusing" offer of compromise referring to unknown "costs," to avoid defendant's appeal. Because costs were not awarded at arbitration, the offer's reference to unspecified costs was difficult for the parties to assess. *Niccum*, at 444; Nelson at 389. A bare majority of this Court (5-4) held those costs could not be included in the MAR 7.3 comparison of positions. Justice Chambers vigorously

itself." Christie-Lambert, at 302. When statutory language is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation, it is ambiguous and the Court may resort to statutory construction, legislative history, and relevant case law for assistance in determining the legislative intent. Estate of Haselwood v. Bremerton Ice Arena, Inc., 166 Wn.2d 489, 498, 210 P.3d 308 (2009).

¹⁷ Nelson v. Erickson, 190 Wn. App. 1003, 2015 Wn. App. LEXIS 2194, at *24, aff'd, 186 Wn.2d 385, 377 P.3d 196 (2016).

¹⁸ Joined by Justices Wiggins, Stephens, and C. Johnson.

dissented. *Niccum*, at 453-56 (Chambers, J. dissenting).¹⁹ Niccum either did not request RCW 4.84.010 costs incurred for the trial de novo, or they were not awarded. *See id.* at 449, 456.

In contrast to *Niccum*, in *Nelson* (a 9-0 decision), plaintiff made an offer of compromise explicitly referring to known costs of \$1,522, which the arbitrator had awarded (as this Court clearly authorized arbitrators to do in amending MAR 6.4 in 2011, *see infra*, p.16 & n.30).²⁰ This Court held in that particular case, costs must be included in the total amount of plaintiff's arbitration position because that is what an ordinary person would understand the total amount of the offer to be. *Nelson*, at 387-88, 392. Dealing only with offers of compromise, *Nelson* asks parties to be clear, not confusing, in their offers so ordinary persons can evaluate the risk of appealing and understand what amount they need to improve upon to avoid MAR 7.3 fees and costs. *Id.* at 391-92.

¹⁹ Bearden takes Justice Chambers' passing comments in his dissent far out of context, claiming the dissent **supported** subtracting RCW 4.84.010 costs from the arbitration award in a case without an offer of compromise. Slip op., at 8 ("even the Niccum dissent would not consider costs in the absence of an offer of compromise."). But the dissent in no way directed courts to subtract costs from the appealing party's position at arbitration; the comparison at issue here was not before the Niccum court. Rather, the dissent argued that it was proper for the trial court to count costs as part of the amount offered to settle the case and avoid trial de novo: Niccum's "offer included costs, and those could only have been the costs to which Niccum would have been entitled upon entry of judgment after arbitration. I would hold that the trial court in this case correctly took those costs into account in making its determination." Niccum, at 456. Because the controversy in Niccum began before this Court's 2011 amendments authorizing arbitrators to award costs, those amendments did not yet apply.

Bearden conflicts with this Court's decision in Haley v. Highland, 142 Wn.2d 135, 12 P.3d 119 (2000), which holds that a trial court certainly can count additional monetary elements beyond damages in determining whether the appealing party has failed to improve its position at trial de novo. In that case, deciding whether plaintiff Haley had improved his position at trial, the Court held it was improper to compare an arbitration award (\$2,500 in damages) that "did **not** reflect an award of attorney fees" (because Haley did not request them at arbitration) to a judgment (the exact same amount in damages) that did include those fees under the State Securities Act. Id. at 154-55 & n.8 (emphasis added). The Court held Haley's failure to request fees from the arbitrator "precludes a finding that he has improved his position under MAR 7.3." Id. at 154. But had Haley requested attorney fees from the arbitrator, the Court would have counted that additional relief in comparing the position at arbitration (damages plus fees) to his position at trial (damages plus fees), and Haley would have improved his position.²¹

²¹ The few reported cases comparing a party's position after arbitration to its position after trial **include** additional relief apart from damages, such as fees or interest, in the MAR 7.3 comparison. *Miller v. Paul M. Wolff Co.*, 178 Wn. App. 957, 967-69, 316 P.3d 1113 (2014) (RCW 49.48.030 attorney fees denied at arbitration, but awarded at trial; court compared arbitration award to trial "**judgment**" **including fees**); *Christie-Lambert*, 39 Wn. App. at 302-05 (comparing "**judgment**," **including increased interest** incurred after arbitration, to arbitration award; excluding new cross-claim at trial); *Cormar, Ltd. v. Sauro*, 60 Wn. App. 622, 623-24, 806 P.2d 253 (1991) (comparing **judgment** including increased interest after arbitration to arbitration award without prejudgment interest); *Colarusso v. Petersen*, 61 Wn. App 767, 770, 812 P.2d 862 (1991) (comparing judgment,

Both the Court of Appeals and Supreme Court in *Nelson* and the Supreme Court in *Niccum* quoted *Cormar*, *Ltd. v. Sauro*, 60 Wn. App. 622, 806 P.2d 253 (1991), the case first articulating the "ordinary person" principle in this context:

We conclude that the rule was meant to be understood by ordinary people who, if asked whether their position had been improved following a trial de novo, would certainly answer "no" in the face of a **superior court judgment**^[22] against them for more than the arbitrator awarded. [23]

Cormar advances a sophisticated argument We are not persuaded by the argument, which fails to refute the simple fact that Sauro emerged from superior court with a judgment for more money than the arbitrator awarded.

Id. at 623-24 (emphasis added). In *Cormar*, that sum of "more money" included prejudgment interest, which the arbitrator had not awarded but the trial court included in the trial "judgment." *Id.* In short, an ordinary person looks at the bottom line. In this case, the bottom line includes costs awarded in both positions, at arbitration and trial. Like Sauro, Bearden "emerged from superior court with a judgment for more money [\$609.39] than the arbitrator awarded." *Id.*

Thus, an ordinary person would "certainly answer" that McGill did not improve his position by taking the case to trial de novo, with all the

including RCW 4.84.010 costs of \$470.34 requested only from trial court, to arbitration award). Bearden appears to diverge from the correct analysis of all three divisions of the Court of Appeals: Cormar (Div. 2); Miller (Div. 3), and Christie-Lambert (Div. 1).

22 Not jury verdict.

²³ Quoted in *Nelson*, 2015 Wn.App. LEXIS 2194, at *26-27.

attendant costs which he and his insurer could fully anticipate. McGill appealed from the total amount of the arbitration award, including RCW 4.84.010 costs. As McGill and his insurer understood well in evaluating the risk of MAR 7.3 fees should he fail to improve his position at trial, it is that total arbitration award—damages plus RCW 4.84.010 costs—which would have become the judgment under RCW 7.06.050(2) had McGill not requested trial de novo.²⁴ There is no valid or logical reason to subtract costs from the MAR 7.3 comparison, and the *Bearden* court gave none.²⁵

Where there is no offer of compromise, the arbitration position can only be the total amount of the arbitration award with costs (as opposed to the substituted offer of compromise). The *Bearden* court cited no authority or evidence for using the arbitration award minus costs as the "total amount" an ordinary person would understand to be the basis of the appeal. *Bearden* completely contradicts an ordinary person's understanding.

²⁴ Bearden rejects the approach of looking to the "amended" arbitration award, including RCW 4.84.010 costs, as the "position" to be improved upon in the trial de novo. But the amended award is the final, total amount granted by the arbitrator, including costs, if awarded: MAR 6.4(d) provides, "Within 14 days after the service of the request for costs ..., the arbitrator shall file an amended award granting the request ... or a denial of costs[.]"

²⁵ As Justice Chambers noted in *Niccum*, referring to cases more complex than this straightforward one, "[d]etermining whether or not a party requesting trial de novo has failed to improve that party's position is not always a simple task. There may be multiple parties and multiple claims, counterclaims, and cross claims. ... The court must consider all factors in determining whether a party has achieved a better result at the trial de novo." *Niccum*, at 453-54 (Chambers, J., dissenting).

B. Since Most Appeals Are By Defendants Seeking Lower Damages From Juries, The Legislature's Intent To Deter Appeals Can Only Be Furthered By Including Costs In Both Positions, While Subtracting Costs Will Frustrate That Intent.

As *Bearden* recognizes, the legislature established MAR 7.3's one-way fee-shifting mechanism for the purpose of deterring meritless or unwarranted appeals from mandatory arbitration, furthering the MAR system's goal of easing court congestion. *E.g., Niccum*, at 451-52. If there is no disincentive to appeal, the arbitration is "just another procedural step before trial[,]" and "mandatory arbitration would be nothing more than a dress rehearsal for the real trial, with each side getting a good look at the other's case." *Williams v. Tilaye*, 174 Wn.2d 57, 63, 272 P.3d 235 (2012). "Both the stick and the carrot are directed at the party requesting the trial de novo, attempting to influence its choices in the hope of reducing court congestion *Do v. Farmers Ins. Co.*, 127 Wn. App. 180, 187, 110 P.3d 840 (2005): *see also Christie-Lambert*, at 302-03:²⁶ *Cormar*, at 623-24.

The rule's purpose is similar to that of RCW 4.84.290, to "penalize parties who unjustifiably pursue or resist" claims; without the deterrent effect of fee-shifting, the defeated party would likely appeal "in nearly all instances" and arbitration "would tend to become a mere nullity and waste of time." *Id.* (quotation omitted). Like other one-way fee-shifting statutes, restricting "an award of attorney fees under RCW 7.06.060 and MAR 7.3 only to the successful appellee...reflects a policy decision favoring arbitration and deterring appeals[.]" *Id.* "[D]enying an attorney fee award to Christie-Lambert would have the absurd consequence of defeating the statutory purposes to deter meritless appeals and to favor arbitration. Another absurd consequence is that a party would be unfairly subjected to the expense of mandatory arbitration and a trial de novo without a change in results." *Id.* at 305 (emphasis added). Christie-Lambert was awarded MAR 7.3 fees even though the difference between "arbitration award and trial de novo judgment against McLeod was de minimis." *Id.* (emphasis added).

Bearden effectively reduces the size of the "stick" (threat of MAR 7.3 fees as a deterrent) by ignoring the minimal increased RCW 4.84.010 costs the non-appealing party necessarily incurs for trial.²⁷

Contrary to *Bearden*, the legislature and this Court intended that costs be included in both "positions." As stated in every bill report and analysis of SB 5373 (2002) (amending RCW 7.06.060), "[t]he determination of whether or not the appealing party's position has been improved is based on the amount awarded in arbitration compared to the amount awarded at the trial de novo." The 2011 amendment to MAR 6.4 by this Court²⁹ clarified that the arbitrator has the authority to award costs to the prevailing party at arbitration, including costs in the "amount awarded in arbitration." This signifies that the MAR 7.3 comparison is between the arbitration award including costs, and the trial judgment including costs.

²⁷ For example, in this case, Bearden incurred approximately \$2,109.39 in postarbitration RCW 4.84.010 costs.

²⁸ E.g., Final S.B. Rep. on SB 5373, at 2, 57th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2002), Appendix

²⁹ This Court is charged with enacting procedural rules to implement MAR proceedings. RCW 7.06.030.

³⁰ In amending the MARs, this Court stated: "The MARs do not specifically address the authority of the arbitrator to award costs and attorney fees. ... The suggested amendment to MAR 3.2(a) would add consistency by clearly stating this authority in a state-wide rule. ... Suggested MAR 6.4 then outlines a procedure to follow and a timeline for requests for costs and attorney fees." **Appendix D** (2011 MAR amendments). http://www.courts.wa.gov/court_rules/?fa=court_rules.proposedRuleDisplayArchive&ruleld=240.

The benefits of prevailing at arbitration include RCW 4.84.010 costs awarded by the arbitrator; the legislature intended these costs to be counted in deciding whether to appeal, so that they function as a deterrent or "thumb on the scale" for the defeated party to consider. Including RCW 4.84.010 costs in both positions thus furthers the Rule's purpose. An interpretation that subtracts costs from both positions, as *Bearden* does, may incentivize defendants to request trial de novo because the additional minimal and predictable costs necessarily incurred by the non-appealing party for trial will no longer count against the appealing party.

Nowhere in the legislative history is there any evidence or suggestion that costs should be subtracted from the total positions at arbitration and at trial de novo; quite the opposite. Nor, as discussed, does any of the caselaw—including *Nelson* and *Niccum*—justify such a tortured interpretation.

C. Bearden Increases Rather Than Decreases The Incentive to Appeal, Making Trial De Novo More Likely.

Bearden speculated, with no citation to evidence, authority, or legislative history, that "a larger pretrial position" including RCW 4.84.010 costs awarded at arbitration "makes it easier for the defendant to 'improve its position' at trial." Slip op., at 8. But including costs in the appealing party's position at arbitration simply reflects the reality of the

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