I. NATURE OF THE CASE 

This case involves a personal injury case where defendant Mr. 

McGill was dissatisfied with the mandatory arbitration award. Mr. McGill 

exercised his right to have a jury determine damages and requested a trial 

de novo. The jury awarded plaintiff less than the arbitrator awarded. In 

2016, Division I of the Court of Appeals correctly held that Mr. McGill 

had improved his position on the trial de novo so the MAR 7 .3 award to 

plaintiff Bearden was error. 

Plaintiff Bearden petitioned for review of the 2016 decision. This 

Court granted the petition and remanded to Division I, to reconsider its 

decision in light of this Court's decision in Nelson v. Erickson, 186 Wn.2d 

385, 377 P.3d 196 (2016). 

Division I again concluded that Mr. McGill has improved his 

position on trial de novo and reversed the MAR 7 .3 award. Bearden v. 

McGill, _ Wn. App. _, 391 P.3d 577 (2017). Mr. Bearden again 

petitions for review. This Court should deny the petition because Division 

I's 2017 decision is consistent with the decisions of this Court and the 

Courts of Appeals and does not raise an issue of substantial public 

importance. 



II. ISSUE PRESENTED 

1. Should this Court deny the Petition for Review because 

Division I's 2017 decision reversing the MAR 7.3 attorney fees award was 

correctly decided?· 

2. Should this Court deny the Petition for Review because 

Division I's 2017 decision does not conflict with any Washington 

appellate court decision? 

3. Should deny the Petition for Review because Division I's 

2017 decision does not raise an issue of substantial public interest? 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

James Bearden and Dolphus McGill were involved m an 

automobile accident. (CP 288) Mr. Bearden sued Mr. McGill alleging 

negligence and seeking damages for his injuries. (CP 288-89) Mr. 

Bearden moved the matter to mandatory arbitration. (CP 277-79) 

The arbitrator awarded Mr. Bearden $44,000 in damages. (CP 

292-93) Mr. Bearden submitted a cost bill for $1,187.00. (CP 292, 274-

75) The arbitrator issued an amended arbitration award adding $1,187 in 

costs to the $44,000 damages award. (CP 290-91) 

Mr. McGill requested trial de novo. (CP 268-71) At trial, the jury 

returned a damages verdict for Mr. Bearden in the amount of $42,500. 

(CP 109, 246) 
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After trial, Mr. Bearden sought costs of $4,049.22. (CP 106-08) 

The court awarded costs of $3,296.39. (CP 86-87, 88-89) The court 

entered a Judgment reflecting the "Total Principal Judgment Amount" of 

$42,500.00 and costs of $3,296.39. 1 (CP 86-87) Mr. McGill paid the 

jury's verdict and statutory costs to Mr. Bearden. (CP 1-4) 

Mr. Bearden moved for MAR 7.3 and RCW 7.06.060 attorney fees 

and expenses. (CP 75-84) He argued Mr. McGill had not improved his 

position on the trial de novo when the arbitration award plus statutory 

costs was compared to the jury award plus statutory costs. (CP 79) Mr. 

McGill opposed the motion, pointing out that he had improved his position 

at trial because the jury's damages award was less than the arbitrator's 

damage award. (CP 45-47) 

The trial court accepted Mr. Bearden's argument and awarded him 

$71,800.00 in MAR 7.3 attorney fees. (CP 18-19, 20-23) Mr. McGill 

appealed. (CP 5-16) In 2016, Division I of the Court of Appeals held Mr. 

McGill had improved his position on the trial and reversed the MAR 7 .3 

award. The 2016 decision stated: 

I Somewhat confusingly, the amounts were not written in the proper blanks. In the 
"Judgment Summary" section, the court appears to have erroneously listed the total 
amount of award plus taxable costs on the line labeled "Taxable Costs & Attorney's 
fees." (CP 86) In addition, in the "Judgment" section, the court appears to have 
erroneously written the amount "$42,500" in the space where the total amount of the 
award plus taxable costs should have been written. (Id.) These anomalies are not 
pertinent to any issue in the case. 
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We hold that a court determines if a party improved its 
position at a trial de novo by comparing every element of 
monetary relief the arbitrator considered with the trial 
court's award for those same elements. Here, this means 
the damages and statutory costs that both the arbitrator and 
the trial court considered. It excludes those statutory costs 
requested only from the trial court. 

Bearden v. McGill, 193 Wn. App. 235, 239, 372 P.3d 138 (2016). 

In 2016, this Court decided Nelson v. Erickson, 186 Wn.2d 385, 

3 77 P .3d 196 (2016). This Court held that a compromise offer should be 

read as an ordinary person would understand it. And determining whether 

a party has improved his position on the trial de novo is determined from 

the perspective of an ordinary person. The Nelson Court compared the 

pre-trial position to the post-trial position without statutory costs being a 

factor. 186 Wn. 2d. at 392. 

Mr. Bearden petitioned for review of Division I's 2016 decision. 

This Court granted the petition and remanded the case to Division I to 

reconsider its decision in light of Nelson v. Erickson.. Bearden v. McGill, 

186 Wn.2d 1009, 380 P.3d 489 (2016). 

In 2017, Division I reached the same result-that Mr. McGill had 

improved his position on trial de novo--on a different rationale. Division I 

explained: 

[] Nelson and Niccum apply the same rule: a court 
applying MAR 7.3 must view the pretrial and posttrial 
positions of the party requesting the trial de novo from the 
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perspective of an ordinary person. Also, in both Nelson and 
Niccum the court determined the requesting party's 
posttrial position by looking at only the jury verdict, not the 
final judgment including costs. 

[W]e follow the Supreme Court's example and adopt the 
jury verdict as McGill's posttrial position. 

To determine a requesting party's position pretrial when no 
offer of compromise has been made, a court looks at the 
arbitration award. 

[W]e conclude that like the posttrial "position" of the 
requesting party, that party's pretrial position is the initial 
arbitration award without costs. 

,r,r 16-18, 20, 391 P.3d at 580-81 (footnotes omitted), 

Division I also reasoned that not including any statutory costs in 

the formula supports the purposes of mandatory arbitration. If arbitration 

statutory costs are included to determine the de noving party's pretrial 

position, the pretrial position will generally be a greater amount and would 

make it easier for a de noving party to improve the position at the trial de 

novo. 

Division I concluded: 

On reconsideration in light of Nelson, we revise our view 
of the MAR 7.3 analysis. We hold that a trial court should 
determine a requesting party's position after trial by 
looking at the damages the court awarded, exclusive of 
costs, as the Supreme Court did in Nelson and Niccum. 
Under this test, McGill improved his position at trial. We 
therefore reverse the trial court's award of attorney fees to 
Bearden under MAR 7 .3 and remand. 
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391 P.3d at 581. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

This Court will only accept review if Division I's 2017 decision 

fits one of the four criteria in RAP 13.4(b): 

( 1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict 
with a decision of the Supreme Court; or 

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict 
with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or 

(3) If a significant question of law under the 
Constitution of the State of Washington or of the 
United States is involved; or 

( 4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public 
interest that should be determined by the Supreme 
Court. 

Mr. Bearden contends this case qualifies for review because 

Division I's 2017 decision conflicts with prior decisions and presents an 

issue of substantial public interest. (Petition at 5) Division I's 2017 

decision is consistent with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals' case 

authority. If there is any public interest in this private dispute, the public 

interest is not substantial and certainly does not justify this Court's review. 

Mr. McGill asks this Court to deny review. 

A. DIVISION l's 2017 DECISION Is CORRECT AND CONSISTENT WITH 

WASHINGTON APPELLATE DECISIONS. 

Division I's 2017 decision correctly applied the "comparing 

comparables" test for assessing under RCW 7.06.060 whether a party has 
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improved his position on a trial de novo. Contrary to Mr. Bearden's 

arguments, there is no conflict with any Washington appellate decision. 

Mr. Bearden misconstrues the Nelson holding when he contends 

this Court held that "costs must be included" in the pretrial position. 

(Petition at 11) In Nelson, the amount of costs was known and specifically 

referenced in the offer of compromise. Therefore, the requesting party 

could calculate the amount the opponent was willing to accept in 

settlement. The Nelson court did not direct that "costs must be included" 

in assessing a party's pretrial position in every case. 

Mr. Bearden contends Division I's 2017 decision conflicts with 

Haley v. Highland, 142 Wn.2d 135, 12 P.3d 119 (2000). (Petition at 12) 

There is no conflict. In Haley, this Court compared the type of relief 

requested and obtained at the arbitration with the type of relief requested 

and obtained at trial. Haley involved a suit for violation of state and 

federal securities laws. RCW 21.20.430(1) allows an award of attorney 

fees for state security violations. The dispute went to mandatory 

arbitration. Plaintiff Haley did not ask for RCW 21.20.430(1) attorney 

fees. Haley was awarded $2,500 at arbitration. 

Haley sought trial de novo. At trial, Haley was awarded the same 

amount as the arbitration award: $2,500. In addition, Haley sought and 

was awarded RCW 21.20.430(1) attorney fees. Haley argued he improved 
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his position on trial de novo because the amount of attorney fees plus the 

$2,500 should be compared to the arbitration award of only $2,500. In 

looking at the pretrial and posttrial position, the Haley court did not 

consider the attorney fee award because Haley "could have requested a 

ruling from the arbitrator on the issue of attorney fees and his failure to do 

so precludes a finding that he has improved his position under MAR 7.3" 

142 Wn.2d. at 154 (2000). The MAR 7.3 award to Highland was 

affirmed. 

Nothing m Division I's 2017 decision conflicts with Haley v. 

Highland. The decisions are similar because in both situations, the courts 

compared only the amount of the arbitration award and the trial award 

without costs. The fact that the Haley Court did not include the attorney 

fee award in the posttrial position does not conflict with Division I's 

decision because in Haley, it was plaintiff, the party seeking an award, 

who requested the trial de novo. The plaintiff chose what relief to seek. 

Here, Mr. McGill is the defendant. He was not seeking an award. 

He was required to pay the award. He had no control over what relief Mr. 

Bearden sought at arbitration and at trial. When the arbitration award of 

$44,000-the pretrial position---is compared to the trial damages award of 

$42,500---the posttrial positions---Mr. McGill owed less. Therefore, he 
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improved his position on the trial de novo. There is no conflict between 

Division I's 2017 decision and Haley v. Highland. 

Mr. Bearden discusses three Court of Appeals decisions, but does 

not argue or otherwise demonstrate that Division I's 201 7 decision 

conflicts with those decisions. Christie-Lambert Van & Storage Co. v. 

McLeod, 39 Wn. App. 298, 693 P.3d 161 (1984); Cormar, Ltd v. Sauro, 

60 Wn. App. 622, 806 P.2d 253, rev. denied, 117 Wn.2d 1004 (1991), and 

Miller v. Paul M Wolff Co., 178 Wn. App. 957, 316 P.3d 1113 (2014). 

(Petition at 12, footnote 21) None of these cases included statutory costs 

in comparing whether the requesting party had improved the position on 

trial de novo. Division I's 2017 decision is consistent with these decisions. 

Mr. Bearden contends Division I's 2017 decision does not cite 

authority supporting the subtraction of costs from the arbitration award. 

(Petition at 14 )2 There was no "subtraction" of costs. Division I's 

decision involves a straight comparison of the award amounts. And 

Division I does rely on the authority of Niccum and Nelson. Niccum v. 

Enquist, 175 Wn.2d 441, 286 P.3d 966 (2012). In both cases, this Court 

compared only the compromise offer amount to the trial award. Statutory 

2 Assuming Division I did not "cite authority," the lack of authority is not a ground for 
this Court's involvement. RAP 13.4 sets forth the criteria for granting a petition. Lack of 
authority is not a ground. 
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costs were not included in the comparison. There is no inconsistency or 

conflict with any Washington appellate decision. Review should be 

denied. 

B. THIS CASE DOES NOT PRESENT AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL 

PUBLIC INTEREST. 

Mr. Bearden argues his case raises an issue of substantial public 

interest. (Petition at 1, 5) This case involves a private dispute between 

private individuals based on unique facts and circumstances. There is no 

public interest, let alone substantial public interest. 

Mr. Bearden argues the legislature and this Court intended that 

costs be included in comparing a requesting party's pretrial and posttrial 

position. (Petition at 16) He quotes language from the bill report and 

analysis of SB 5373. See Appendix C to Petition. The language is 

absolutely silent on the subject of statutory costs. SB 5373 did amend 

RCW 7.06.050 to add the offer of compromise provisions. SB 5373 also 

amended RCW 7.06.060 to add, among other things, section (2), 

subsection (3) which allows the prevailing party to recover the statutory 

costs for both the arbitration and the trial. See Appendices 1 and 2 to 

Answer. Nothing in the language of the statutes or the legislative history 

speaks to the subject of including statutory costs in the pretrial and 
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posttrial companson for determining whether the requesting party 

improves his position on trial de novo. 

Similarly, nothing in the history of the amendment to MAR 6.4 

speaks to the subject of including statutory costs in the pretrial and 

posttrial comparison for determining whether the requesting party 

improves his position on trial de novo. See Appendix D to Petition. 

Division I's 2017 decision does not conflict with the statutes, rules, or 

legislative history. And the statutes, rules, and legislative history do not 

show any intent that statutory costs be included in the pretrial and posttrial 

comparison for determining whether the requesting party improves his 

position on trial de novo. 

In fact, the statutes show that statutory costs are an entirely 

separate subject from improving one's position on the trial de novo. RCW 

7.06.060(3) states: 

If the prevailing party in the arbitration also prevails at the 
trial de novo, even though at the trial de novo the appealing 
party may have improved his or her position from the 
arbitration, this section does not preclude the prevailing 
party from recovering those costs and disbursements 
otherwise allowed under chapter 4.84 RCW, for both 
actions. 

The legislature treats prevailing party status entitling one to RCW 4.84 

costs as a separate and distinct concept from a requesting party improving 

his or her position on the trial de novo. State v. Tracer, 173 Wn.2d 708, 
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718, 272 P .3d 199 (2012) (basic rule of statutory construction that 

legislature intends different terms used in same statute to have different 

meanings). 

Not only does Mr. Bearden ignore the plain differences in the 

statutory language, he urges that terms be added to the statutes and court 

rules by arguing the legislature intended that RCW 4.84.010 costs "be 

counted in deciding whether to appeal." (Petition at 17) If the legislature 

wanted to include that language, the legislature could have done so. This 

Court "cannot add words or clauses to an unambiguous statute when the 

legislature has chosen not to include that language. We assume the 

legislature 'means exactly what it says.'" State v. Delgado, 148 Wn.2d 

723, 727-28, 63 P.3d 792 (2003). Mr. Bearden's argument requires a 

rewriting of RCW 7.06.060 and rules by adding words. 

Mr. Bearden argues that Division I's 201 7 decision decreases the 

deterrence of a trial de novo. (Petition at 15-16, 17-19). He argues the 

decision reduces the size of the "stick," i.e. deterrent, "by ignoring the 

minimal increased RCW 4.84.010 costs the non-appealing party 

necessarily incurs for trial." (Petition at 16) 

Nothing about Division I's 2017 decision reduces the risk to the 

party requesting the trial de novo, and certainly nothing reduces the risk to 

a defendant like Mr. McGill. Any party requesting trial de novo must 
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assess the risks of whether the fact finder at trial will be more generous in 

its award than the arbitrator was. Because compensatory damages cannot 

be computed by any formula or standard, a party requesting the trial de 

novo always takes a risk of trying to predict the fact finder's damages 

award. Washington Pattern Civil Jury Instruction, WPI 30.01.01 ("The

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